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PROCEEDIN%

7

1 1 narrowed tT®ist down to 11. I think rather than
2 (Proceedings continued outside presence 2 telling the Court -- well, we're not going to call
3 ofjury.) 3 former employees, for example. But at this point
4 THE COURT: The record will show the presence | 4 we have it down to 11.
5 of Mr. Ray, represented by Ms. Do, Mr. Li and 5 But anyway, the issue of Doug Sundling,
6 Mr. Kelly. The state is present represented by 6 we are not going to call him in our case in chief,
7 Ms. Polk and Mr. Hughes. 7 THE COURT: Okay.
8 There are three legal matters pending. 8 MR, KELLY: And, Judge, if I may address just
9 Primarily the length of the trial, 403 concerns, 9 the length of trial. We believe we probably need
10 the question of David Kent's testimony, and the 10 between a week to a week and a half to present the
11 question of Mr. Sundling's testimony. 11 defense case.
12 And did anybody want to be heard on any |12 THE COURT: Four to six days, then?
13 of those issues? 13 MR. KELLY: Yes, sir. And obviously that
14 MS. POLK: Your Honor, good morning. 14 excludes any time allotted by the Court for closing
15 THE COURT: Good morning. 15 arguments and deliberations. If the trial were to
16 MS. POLK: I want to be heard on the issue of 16 be completed by June 10, as contemplated by the
17 Doug Sundling, first of all, because I think that 17 Court, if we back off of that day, I believe we
18 wiil take care of one of the matters fairly 18 would begin presenting our case shortly after the
19 quickly. It does relate to the state's concern 19 break would be our anticipation.
20 about the length of the trial and our ability to 20 THE COURT: Well, let's address, then, the
21 finish within the remaining time allotted. 21 remaining two issues.
22 We have reviewed our witness list. We 22 And they may be related, Ms. Polk, in
23 have made some decisions to significantly narrow 23 that -- with regard to participant witnesses
24 the remaining witnesses. And one of the witnesses |24 other -- well, for 2009. Is there anything else --
25 that the state will withdraw at this point is Doug 25 else other than what's in the pleadings?
6 8
1 Sundling. We would like to reserve the right to 1 MS. POLK: No, Your Honor. And just that we
2 recall him in rebuttal. 2 had listed quite a number of participants. We have
3 But, also, for the Court's information 3 narrowed that list to those remaining now who have
4 and purposes of this discussion, the state will not 4 information specifically about what was happening
5 call Steve Pace. The Court had already made a 5 to the three victims. It is corroborative, not
6 preliminary ruling on him anyway. But we won't 6 cumulative. I can address it further if the Court
7 attempt to call him. 7 wants me to. But I think I fully set out the
8 THE COURT: It was not barring his testimony. 8 argument in our pleading.
9 It raised foundational thoughts. 9 THE COURT: And I'll see if the defense has
10 MS. POLK: And I understand. I appreciate 10 anything else.
11 that. And at -- at this time in the state's case 1" MR. KELLY: In regards to the participant
12 in chief because of this issue of time, these are 12 witnesses, Judge, I believe -- we believe it's
13 the witnesses that we have made the -- the decision |13 cumulative. And that was summarized in Miriam's
14 at this time not to call. 14 pleading as to what we understand the testimony of
15 Steve Pace is one of them. Doug Sundling |15 each witness to be. And thus we would submit that
16 1s another. Rick Ross is another. And we also at 16 issue on the pleading as to the participant
17 this time do not intend to call family members. We [17 witnesses.
18 had originally intended to call -- call them. 18 As to the remaining witnesses, Mr. Li is
19 There are a number of participants we 19 going to address those.
20 decided not to call, a number of law enforcement 20 THE COURT: Then with regard to the 2009
21 officers. We had listed medical doctors. In light 21 participant witnesses, I'm -- I'm going to be
22 of all the testimony that's come in, we don't feel 22 mindful of time. And I'm going to be mindful of
23 it's necessary for us to call any additional 23 when testimony gets into cumulative posture. But
24 doctors. 24 I'm not going to make a preruling on that.
25 To cut to the chase, Your Honor, we have |25 This case is about 2009. That's the
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9 11

1 issue. There have been man”her things 1 nature of thgidence that was going to be

2 discussed. And I'm just going to see how it 2 permitted. And I remember sidebars where Ms. Polk

3 proceeds. If it appears to be cumulative, if 1 3 was leading, and there was an idea that that might

. 4 make that decision, I've just considered the need 4 be the way to do that just to avoid going beyond

5 to impose time limits, to set time limits, whether 5§ what was deemed appropriate with regard to those

6 it's the remaining five hours or something for all 6 prior events.

7 witnesses and -- and equal time for the defense. 7 But I do want to make clear that that

8 I understand that in a -- in the criminal 8 area is one where the leading question is of

9 justice system, it's not so clear cut being able to 9 concern when people start talking about what might
10 do that specifically with regard to the right to 10 have affected them from a prior sweat lodge and
11 cross-examine. You just can't put what might be 11 being directed to that and suggested as opposed to
12 deemed an arbitrary limit on that. 12 their actual testimony, their spontaneous direct
13 But I'm strongly considering time limits 13 testimony. I'll say that.

14 with regard to those witnesses. But before I do 14 The other issue, I guess, is David Kent;
15 that, I'll see how it proceeds with the first 15 correct?
16 witness called. 16 MS. POLK: Yes, Your Honor.
17 Ms. Polk raised something about whether 17 THE COURT: Ms. Polk, anything else on that?
18 or not some of the 2009 participants -- I think 18 That's been briefed quite thoroughly.
19 there were two of them that had the experience in 19 And I've read through that and the attachments.
20 the 2008 sweat lodge. 20 MS. POLK: Your Honor, I won't repeat the
21 Isn't that right? 21 state's argument, then. But just to emphasize that
22 MS. POLK: Yes, Your Honor. 22 it is clear that the defense has made causation a
23 THE COURT: And that goes back to what I think |23 central issue in this case. And many, many hours
24 the -- the basic guideline has been throughout. If 24 of testimony have been focused on these causation
25 somehow the 2008 experience had an affect on 25 and explanations for other causes.

10 12

1 conduct and thought in 2009, it would appear that 1 David -- Dr. Kent is that link that the

2 would be relevant. And I don't know what else to 2 Court had expressed concern was missing. He is

3 say about that. 3 that -- that witness who can talk specifically

4 But if the defense wants to address that 4 about medically what was going on in 2009 and makes

5 any further. 5 that medical link between what people observed and

6 Mr. Kelly. 6 what he personally observed and his personal

7 MR. KELLY: Judge, again, of course, all of 7 observations, that it was heat and heat stroke that

8 these issues have been both — have been both 8 people were suffering from.

9 orally and in writing briefed and argued. And 9 He was a witness, that his existence was
10 they're simply a 403 aspect. There is a cumulative 10 known to the state, his existence was known to the
11 aspect as well as the other issues that we've 11 defense. But the state did not know he was a
12 raised -- you know -- relating to 404(b). 12 doctor with that testimony until he contacted the
13 And I think I understand from the Court 13 state on March 14, at which point we immediately
14 that you're going to listen to the testimony and 14 disclosed that email to the defense and then
15 make the dedsion contemporaneous with the 15 immediately disclosed the subsequent interview that
16 testimony. And we understand that. We're 16 occurred a couple of weeks early to the defense.

17 reserving our right to object based on 403 as -- as 17 He is a witness that has been known to

18 well as relevance. 18 all the parties since 2008, actually to the

19 THE COURT: Okay. Of course. And then 19 defense, because he was a participant. And he was

20 objections can be made, of course. 20 disclosed, I believe it was November of 2010, when
. 21 That type of testimony, though, when -- 21 the state disclosed all these spreadsheets with all

22 when talking about participants and prior 22 the participants. And so it's not a surprise.

23 experience, it was in this area that the leading 23 There is no undue prejudice to the defense.

24 questions problem or issue came up quite a bit. 24 And, again, it is significant, important

25 And then some of that had to do with the 25 testimony that provides that link that what was
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13 15
1 happening to participants in 8 was heat related, 1 whether he‘s a doctor or not.
2 that it was on that continuum, and his personal 2 It's not -- it's not the defense's burden
3 observation that -- that participants were 3 to try to figure out which cases -- or which --
4 suffering specifically from heat stroke. 4 which witnesses are best for the state or -- or not
5 And the state would urge the Court to 5 best for the state.
6 allow Dr. Kent to testify for that very reason, 6 It's up to the state to show that it's
7 that he is significant, has very important 7 exercised due diligence to allow for late
8 testimony, and it goes to this issue that the 8 disclosure of an expert witness, Your Honor. And,
9 defense has made very central to this case, this 9 moreover, there were references in the witnesses
10 issue of causation. 10 interviewed that there was a doctor in 2008 who was
1" THE COURT: Mr. Li, are you going to address 11 present. So it's not as if that was a mystery
12 that? 12 either.
13 MR. LI: Yes, Your Honor, just quickly. There 13 THE COURT: Ms. Polk.
14 is an issue of due diligence. And the state had 14 MS. POLK: If I can just briefly respond.
15 the name of the -- of this individual. They simply 15 First of all, Dr. Lyon had told the defense and, I
16 didn't investigate this particular individual. 16 believe, also testified that he believed that what
17 They did investigate -- you know -- numerous people |17 happened on prior occasions is relevant to this
18 from prior sweat lodges. And they simply didn't do 18 issue of causation. And I would direct the Court's
19 that with respect to Dr. Kent or Mr. Kent. 19 attention to State versus Smith, which is 140 Ariz.
20 He arose simply because of the media 20 355, wherein the Court addressed the issue of court
21 surrounding this case. And so clearly whatever 21 imposed sanctions for failure to make a disclosure
22 happens, we would also have to have some sort of 22 required by Rule 15 and expressed the Arizona
23 voir dire about his qualifications as to whether he 23 Supreme Court's position that precluding a witness
24 is a doctor, what -- you know -- what expertise he 24 should not be a remedy if there is sanctions that
25 has in diagnosing heat stroke, all those sorts of 25 are short of that.
14 16
1 things. 1 And specifically the Supreme Court set
2 And more importantly, he's not and does 2 out the test in determining whether or not a
3 not purport to be a forensic pathologist and does 3 witness late disclosed should be allowed to
4 not purport to talk about the pathophysiology of 4 testify -- set forth four criteria: how vital the
5 heat stroke in any way that's relevant to the cause 5 witness is to the case, whether the opposing party
6 of death for the three people who passed away. 6 will be surprised, whether the discovery violation
7 That's the problem. You have a person who is 7 was motivated by bad faith, and then any other
8 completely unconnected to the actual cause of death 8 relevant circumstances.
9 to the three people who passed away. 9 Clearly the -- Dr. Kent is vital to the
10 And you have another pathophysiologist, 10 case. Clearly the defense has not been surprised.
11 Dr. Mosley, who, in our pleading I think we showed 11 I believe we're now almost up to -- to four weeks
12 the Court, said it would be, I believe, dangerous 12 since the state noticed him as a witness. This was
13 or -- or words to that effect to try to use a -- 13 not a violation motivated by bad faith.
14 prior -- you know -- diagnoses to impact -- you 14 I've laid out the circumstances under
15 know -- future diagnoses. And that's an actual 15 which we learned of Dr. Kent. And I think in light
16 pathophysiologist talking about it. 16 of all of those factors, in light of the tests set
17 That's a forensic pathologist talking 17 out by the Arizona Supreme Court, clearly these
18 about the mechanism of heat stroke and saying that |18 factors fall in favor of allowing Dr. Kent to
19 you simply did not do that. And so not only is 19 testify.
20 there a late disclosure issue, but there is a 20 MR. LI: Your Honor, may I please -- I'm
21 relevance issue. There's a qualifications issue. 21 sorry.
22 Your Honor, we don't know if he's even an | 22 THE COURT: Yes. Go ahead.
23 expert, and we do not have time. The state -- if 23 MR. LI: There are some cases that we have
24 they wanted to investigate this, they could have 24 cited as well: State v. Thompson, State v.
25 deployed their resources that way, found out 25 Williams. Thompson is 190 Ariz. 555. Williams is
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17 19
1 113 Ariz. 442. These all sta™ for the proposition 1 expertise. .
2 that when the -- when the disclosure is tardy, when | 2 With regard to those other three doctors,
3 there were -- when the Court -- I mean when the 3 there was no argument that they should not be
. 4 state had the opportunity to do all the things -- 4 allowed to testify. There was no argument about
5 all the investigations that it needed to do and did § foundation or qualifications and no pretrial
6 not do so, preclusion is the proper remedy. 6 hearing to determine qualifications.
7 Your Honor, we are, I think, almost three 7 Dr. Kent is much the same. He is a lay
8 months into trial now. And it -- it is -- this is 8 witness participant with expertise in an area that
9 not how orderly evidence should be presented. We 9 this Court has already found is relevant. That's
10 should not be in a position where we are going to 10 this issue of causation and what happened in that
11 have a fight over the qualifications of a 11 same sweat lodge on a prior occasion during a
12 particular expert -- purported expert. 12 ceremony led by Mr. Ray.
13 We should not be in a position where 13 The argument that the defense is raising
14 we're arguing about whether this -- this person 14 with regard to his ability to testify about what he
15 whose motivations are unknown to us, who -- who 15 saw and what his opinions are would go to the
16 arose out of media contact, and who now wants to 16 weight and not to the admissibility.
17 come in and testify about the heat stroke. 17 MR. LI: Your Honor, the Court's prior ruling
18 The Court has actually seen the 18 relating to this causation issue and prior acts and
19 photographs of -- of the participants of 2008. And 19 having any impact on -- on causation was prior to
20 this person is not -- you know -- has no evidence 20 the Haddow issue, was prior to Dr. Mosley, was
21 that demonstrates he has any training about the 21 prior to a lot of that testimony that was elicited
22 physiology. He has no -- there is no evidence of 22 about the construction of the sweat lodge and what
23 any training as a forensic pathologist. 23 have you.
24 And it is -- you know -- the idea that 24 And -- you know -- I'm not going to
25 the -- this -- this individual can come in and just 25 re- -- attempt to relitigate our motion for a
. 18 20
1 say, well -- you know -- based on my diagnosis, 1 mistrial, because we understand the Court's ruling
2 these folks had heat stroke, when forensic -- you 2 here. Butitis -- it is frankly not fair for the
3 know -- forensic pathologist, Dr. Mosley, another 3 state to reap all of the various advantages that it
4 one of the state's witnesses, says that applying 4 seeks from various late disclosures, including
5 prior acts to the -- to the current situation would 5 Brady violation, and -- and not provide any remedy
6 be dangerous. Now, he literally said it would be 6 to the -- to the defense in terms of -- you know --
7 dangerous. 7 protecting Mr. Ray's rights in this particular
8 And -- you know -- we would submit that 8 case.
9 he knows because he is, in fact, a forensic 9 The disclosure is late. It's --it's
10 pathologist and says that you can't do that. 10 months late. It -- it is to a tangential issue.
11 THE COURT: Yes. 11 This person who appears because of some media
12 MS. POLK: Thank you, Judge. The -- the 12 interest when this Court had actually seen
13 statement from Dr. Mosley that the defense has 13 photographs of 2008 and also has found that it's
14 raised on several occasions really is taken out of 14 not clear that -- it's not actually clear what
15 context during an interview. 15 the 2008 sweat lodge evidence is even relevant to
16 But I want to address what was just 16 anymore.
17 raised by Mr. Li, which his arguments go to the 17 We -- we made a motion, Your Honor, to
18 weight to be given this evidence, not its 18 strike. The Court denied that motion to strike all
19 admissibility. 19 of the testimony relating to 2008. And we
20 In this trial we have heard from several 20 understand that. But there's still -- the state is
. 21 other doctors who were called as lay witnesses who |21 acting as if we did not have this entire Haddow
22 had specific expertise: Dr. Wagoner, 22 issue and we did not have all of the -- all of the
23 Dr. Armstrong, and then Dr. Beverly Bunn, who was |23 evidence relating to the construction of the sweat
24 the dentist. This is another doctor who is a 24 lodge and all of those -- all of those complicated
25 participant and who is an eyewitness who has 25 facts that the Court laid out in one of its oral

5 of 89 sheets

Page 17 to 20 of 356




| 21 23
1 discussions ajbout the situati”hat we're 1 among witnges, preventing media exposure.
2 currently in. i 2 Is there any information on that,
3 And we can't turn the clock back to 3 Ms. Polk?
4 Dbefore that sjtuation when -- before we knew that 4 MS. POLK: Your Honor, yes. The email that he
5 there were ajl these construction issues. 5 wrote on Saturday, March 12th, 2011, at 11:17 p.m,,
6 Anf the problem is now that the state 6 the subject was Death -- James Ray sweat
7 wants to benefit from all of the -- all of the 7 lodge 2009. Hello, Sir or Madam. I hear that
8 things that h‘pve happened in the last month or so, 8 these deaths are now the cause of serious charges
9 many of whi¢h are not the defense's -- well, all of 9 against James Ray, and there is a large trial in
10 which are noit the defense's -- you know -- fault to 10 Camp Verde.
11 the extent that there is a fault, all of which are 11 That's all he says. He does not indicate
12 the responsiﬂ)ility of the state's conduct. 12 that he has been watching it in any way, just that,
13 And so we would urge the Court to 13 1 hear that these deaths are now the cause of
14 recognize that this is an extraordinarily late -- 14 serious charges, and there is a large trial.
156 late disclosuj/e, that they did have the opportunity 15 But, Your Honor, again, the extent to
16 to -- to interview this doctor. They could have 16 which this witness, if he has paid attention to the
17 asked him. Jﬁ'hey've asked all sorts of people. 17 media at all would be an appropriate subject for
18 They've inteil(viewed hundreds of people, as 18 cross-examination.
19 Detective Di?kin has told the Court and this jury. 19 THE COURT: Has he been asked about that? Is
20 And -- and they decided not to interview 20 he -- is he watching the trial regularly? Does
21 this person. ‘And then he pops out of the woodwork 21 anybody know? Because that -- that would really be
22 because of the media contact with respect to the 22 a factor in all this. Does anybody know?
23 trial. That's |-- that's not the way an orderly 23 MS. POLK: Your Honor, we do not know. I
24 tnal should progress. 24 don't think he was asked. We can certainly contact
25 THE COURT: One thing that hasn't really been 25 him and report back to the Court later today,
| 22 24
1 discussed veiry much is how David Kent decided to 1 assuming he's available. In the interview with
2 come forward. Mr. Li has referenced saw something 2 doctor -- with Detective Diskin, I don't believe
3 aboutit. Do you know that because you have the 3 there is any questioning of that.
4 full interview that Detective Diskin conducted -- 4 Detective Diskin is telling me simply
5 conducted? ‘I only have a few pages of the excerpts 5 that Dr. Kent told him that he did not know James
6 thatleadso f before the discussion of the 6 Ray had been arrested, that he saw something on the
7 photographs|takes place. It's getting into the 7 news, and that prompted the email to us.
8 part where there are going to be photographs 8 MR. LI: Your Honor, just for -- I mean, I
9 displayed apparently, and -- and I don't have 9 don't want to sidetrack on this particular issue.
10 anything past that. 10 But one of the other consequences of calling
1 But is that discussed in the detective's 11 Dr. Kent will be that we're going to have to have a
12 interview? 12 minitrial about 2008. Because the facts are that
13 MR. LI:| It was from the email. Well, I'll 13 we have pictures of this.
14 let Ms. Do talk. She understands it. 14 This guy comes out. He -- he hears that
15 MS. DO: Your Honor, I don't recall the date. 15 there is a trial going on. And I suspect that he's
16 But I believe David Kent had contacted the County 16 hearing it either through other participants who
17 Attorney's Office through their website, and that 17 are -- who are following the news or he's watching
18 email was forwarded to Detective Diskin. 18 it himself. And then he comes in and testifies,
19 And from the content of his email, it 19 and he makes some rather elaborate claims about
20 appeared that he was prompted by hearing about the |20 what actually happened there. I think he said he
21 case through the media. I don't unfortunately have 21 saved something like six lives. And the Court has
22 that email in front of me. And I assume from the 22 seen the photographs.
23 Court's question it was not attached as an exhibit. 23 THE COURT: I think he said six were critical,
24 THE COQURT: I had specific orders elaborating 24 ten were serious.
25 on the rule of exclusion and preventing discussions 25 MR. LI: There you go. And I think he says he

Page 21 to 24 of 356

6 of 89 sheets



® *

27

1 saved a life. 1 centraltot ase. It is the state's burden to
2 THE COURT: Two or three -- 2 prove causation. We're not creating an issue. The
3 MR. LI: | Right. 3 state actually has to prove that issue.
4 THE COURT: -- I think he says he saved. 4 That is something that we noticed from
5 MR. LI:| And -- and the Court has seen the 5 the beginning of this case, that one of our
6 photographs| And -- and so the issue then becomes 6 defenses would be to challenge the state's ability
7 if -- If he comes in and testifies in this manner, 7 to prove beyond a reasonable doubt causation. And
8 we will have to call various withesses to rebut 8 the state has known for quite some time that among
9 what he's saying. 9 the things that we would be challenging is the
10 We cannot simply let that -- these what I 10 medical causation of -- of the deaths. That's why
11 would charagterize as rather wild descriptions of 11 we listed from almost the beginning the fact that
12 what happened in 2008 affect this jury. It -- it 12 we were going to hire our own medical examiner who
13 is -- and that adds -- adds weeks. 13  would look at all the evidence and tell this jury
14 THE COURT: Ms. Polk. 14 his issue, his -- his concerns about the causation
15 MS. POLK: Your Honor, again, if -- the 15 issue.
16 defense has made causation a central issue in this 16 So -- so the idea that the defense has
17 case. We have been in trial taking testimony now 17 created an issue out of causation is incorrect. It
18 since March 2nd with hours and hours focused on the |18 is actually the state's burden to prove causation,
19 causation issue. 19 and we have said from the beginning that we were
20 To|date the state has only had three 20 challenging the state's ability.
21 witnesses talk about prior years. And that was 21 The -- the idea that -- that this doctor
22 Debbie Mercer, Ted Mercer, and then Jennifer Haley 22 can -- or this guy can come in here and testify,
23 very briefly. | That's the only testimony this jury 23 who hasn't been qualified under any circumstance,
24 has heard so far about what happened in prior 24 before this Court and then just -- just to throw it
25 years, in contrast to this -- this trial, 25 out there and see what the jury makes of it,
26 28
1 essentially, being focused on causation. 1 notwithstanding the fact that this Court has seen
2 Dr| Kent is a significant, crucial 2 the evidence; has heard from other testimony
3 witness to this issue of causation. If there are 3 relating to what happened in 2008; has seen
4 concerns about what he has been exposed to, then he | 4 witnesses on the stand retract their prior
5 certainly can be cross-examined on that. But just 5 statements relating to 2008, saying that there were
6 as the other doctors testified about 2009, this is 6 40 people down or however many folks Ms. Mercer
7 a doctor from 2008 who can provide that link -- 7 said were down, and then said I exaggerated; has
8 that medical|link about what was going on and how 8 seen all of that evidence, and then to let this
9 it relates to heat -- specifically to heat, which 9 fellow come in and just -- just testify and then
10 the defense has challenged as the issue of 10 have -- leave it to the defense to clean it up,
11 causation. 11 that -- that is not how a trial should be done.
12 MR. LI:| Your Honor, I think -- 12 If the state wanted to call this guy and
13 MS. POLK: The fact that calling a witness 13 wanted to qualify him as an expert to discuss what
14 necessitates|the defense to call witnesses is just 14 happened in 2008, we could have done this back in
15 how a trial proceeds. But the -- to suggest that 15 November. We could have -- he could have been part
16 if we allow in relevant testimony through a 16 of this Terrazas hearing that we had and spent
17 relevant witness, that the Court shouldn't do that 17 three days of the Court's time on. But they
18 because then they're going to have to call 18 didn't.
19 witnesses to|combat that shouldn't be a reason to 19 And so now here we are in trial. And
20 preclude a witness who has crucial information 20 the -- and the problem is that the state has
21 relating to this issue of causation, which the 21 created this problem. It's not the defense -- you
22 defense has made central to this case. 22 know -- raising some issue about causation. That's
23 MR. LI:| Your Honor, what -- what is simply 23 our right. We -- we are allowed to try to hold the
24 incorrect about what the state is saying is it's 24 state to its burden.
25 not the defense that makes any particular issue 25 THE COURT: I'm going to think about this some
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1 more. I want to say at this t”y though, I do not 1 state's -- thgfense's expert at the very end of
2 understand the disclosure aspect of this, 2 January. And there is no reference in his report
3 disclosed, essentially, on March 14 in some 3 to organophosphates. And it was simply through a
4 fashion. ButI think pretty much just the name and 4 question by Mr. Hughes in interviewing Dr. Paul
5 the -- and the possibility of being an expert. And 5 that Dr. Paul made reference to organophosphates.
6 I guess the email was provided as well showing the 6 Again, the state had no further
7 circumstances. And then there is no information 7 information about organophosphates nor where it was
8 provided for another three weeks, I think. I mean, 8 in the record until the opening statement when
9 I think it's April 4th that the interview takes 9 Mr. Li played a clip with that reference to
10 place. 10 organophosphates. But that's relevant to the
1 And, Ms. Polk and Mr. Hughes, I do not 11 404(b) issue because that 404(b) hearing would have
12 agree with the assessment that -- or the view that 12 been very different if we had understood at that
13 witnesses aren't -- don't really come under the 13 point that the defense was going to claim that
14 15.6 obligations. Witnesses are important because 14 organophosphates was the cause of death.
15 of the infformation they have. And this information 15 When we did the 404(b) hearing, our focus
16 s different from anything that I -- that I have 16 was on the issue of the mental state of the
17 seen based an the 404(b) hearings, what's -- what's 17 defendant, that the prior sweat lodges gave him
18 proceeded here. 18 notice -- prior notice that his conduct was
19 This witness, essentially, says at one 19 reckless. And we were focusing on the issue of the
20 point in the excerpt that Ms. Polk provided, said 20 similarity between the prior events and the current
21 that if he was in a hospital, he would have had a 21 event.
22 Code Blue --|or he would have coded these people. 22 We were not focusing on the issue of
23 That's -- well, and I've mentioned before in the 23 causation. And, as the Court has correctly noted,
24 404(b), there just wasn't any medical testimony at 24 causation would not be a subject for a 404(b)
25 all. 25 hearing. The whole causation is integral to the
30 32
1 But based on what was provided, just the 1 trial itself. And the case has recognized that
2 lay observations and -- and beyond that because no 2 distinction between prior acts that you're offering
3 more evidence was allowed in that 404(b) context, 3 for limited purposes versus the history and how
4 this is a completely new aspect, it appears to me. 4 that is just part of the case that's intertwined
5 Ms. Polk, do you disagree with that? 5 with the facts of the case and that you don't do a
6 MS. POLK: Your Honor, no. I agree -- 1 agree 6 Terrazas hearing.
7 actually with| a couple of things the Court said. 7 But I agree with the Court. We did not
8 Just briefly on the issue of 15.6, 1 8 offer medical testimony at the 404(b) hearing.
9 won't quibble with the Court. We have never read 9 But, again, because we didn't know anything about
10 that rule that does not reference witnesses. It 10 this issue of organophosphates. And, second,
11 just talks about the information -- or material, I 11 because our focus was not causation with regard to
12 believe, are the words used in 15.6. Even that the 12 the prior sweat lodges but just the issue of notice
13 state has never read that to mean that we have to 13 and the requisite mental state of the defendant.
14 file an affidavit or a 15.6 motion with regard to 14 THE COURT: This is a motion in limine related
15 witnesses. But I understand, looking at the rule, 15 by the defense, so you're going to get the last
16 why the -- why the Court could conclude that. 16 word, Mr. Li. It's your motion in limine.
17 But we felt in listing him as a witness 17 But I want to ask Ms. Polk, and you can
18 on March 14th that we were -- were providing that 18 address this as well.
19 notice to the parties. 19 In Dr. Paul's report, what is stated
20 Your Honor, that -- the 404(b) hearing 20 about causation in that report that is provided
21 did not include medical testimony. That hearing 21 in -- in January? The interview is in January.
22 would have been far different if we had had notice 22 MS. POLK: Yes, Your Honor. We didn't get the
23 of the defense's case about organophosphates. And, |23 report -- and I'll let Mr. Hughes talk more about
24 again, as the Court knows, there was no mention of 24 the report. But we didn't get the report, I
25 organophosphates until we -- we interviewed the 25 believe, until January 10th maybe of this year,
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1 sometime inJanuary. . 1 It’ikely that a secondary event or
2 THE COURT: And then the interview is at the 2 process contributed to the morbidity and death that
3 end of January. 3 occurred at -- during this event.
4 But, Mr. Hughes, what -- I mean, what 4 So -- and to correct the record with
. 5 was -- what was stated about causation in the Paul 5§ respect to what Mr. Hughes said relating to the
6 report? 6 interview, I think the way it happened was they
7 MR. HUGHES: Your Honor, as I recall -- and 1 7 asked, well, what would you have done if you were
: 8 believe his report has been marked now as an 8 investigating this as a -- as a coroner or as a
i 9 exhibit. Butjas I recall, he mentioned in the 9 medical examiner?
10 report that he had doubts that -- about heat 10 And he said, well, I would have done --
11 stroke, specifically the lack of a rectal 11 you know -- I don't want to criticize other --
12 temperature|and the signs and symptoms, that the 12 other folks. But I would have looked at other
13 Court's heard some testimony about from other 13 areas.
14 witnesses, that led him to believe there could be 14 What would you have looked at?
15 other factors that led to the cause of the people's 15 And that's when he said, one of the
16 deaths. 16 things I would have looked at is organophosphates.
17 He never mentioned organophosphates. He [17 Because a lot of the symptoms that you're seeing
18 never mentioned what other things it was that he 18 here are consistent with organophosphates.
19 believed could have led. And, again, I would defer 19 It also happened to be consistent with
20 to the report. 20 other toxins, for instance, carbonate, which is
21 MR. LI:| May I, Your Honor? 21 another form of pesticide. But we've never taken
| 22 THE COURT: Of course. 22 the position that it's only organophosphates. And
23 Go ahead 23 that's the only thing that could have caused these
24 MR. HUGHES: But it -- it wasn't until the 24 people to die. And so I don't think that's quite
25 interview when I asked him, basically, well, what 25 accurate.
¢ ey %
1 do you think|could have killed these three people, 1 The other point I would make, Your Honor,
2 that he then|said, well, I think it's the signs and 2 s that it is -- two points: One, the state is not
3 symptoms that I'm seeing are consistent with 3 surprised by toxicity as an issue. It is all over
4 organophosphates. So that came out at the 4 the reports. We didn't manufacture any of this.
5 interview out in Los Angeles of the doctor at the § All of this is from the state's own evidence.
6 end of January. 6 The tape -- the organophosphates tape
7 THE COURT: Okay. 7 that we've played now, Exhibit 742 -- that is the
8 Mr. Li 8 state's own evidence. We found -- Ms. Do found it
9 MR. LI:| Your Honor, two corrections: One, 9 after listening for hours and hours and hours of
10 we're not -- we haven't said that organophos- -- 10 interviews and dead space in interviews.
11 it's not our burden to say what caused folks to 1 So that's what -- it was because of our
12 die. But we have noted that many of the signs and 12 due diligence looking at the state's evidence that
13 symptoms are consistent with organophosphates and |13 we were able to find the statement on the evening
14 that you canft rule it out. That's -- that's the 14 of the accident that discusses organophosphates.
15 lay of the land right now. 15 They've never done anything to try to
16 It's never been our burden to prove it. 16 figure out who said it. They just -- you know --
17 And I think the state needs to understand that and 17 take the position that they don't know who said it
18 internalize it, that it 1s not the defense's burden 18 and that it's really the defense's burden to figure
19 to prove -- disprove causation. 19 all that out. That's not the case.
20 What -- what Mr. -- or Dr. Paul said is 20 If you look at the medical records, as
. 21 that -- he said, it is likely that a secondary 21 the Court has seen over and over again, the -- the
22 event or process contributed to the morbidity and 22 mention of toxicity and specific brands of
23 death that occurred during this event, essentially, 23 toxicity, it's replete through the evidence.
24 due to the lack of evidence supporting a diagnosis 24 And I -- and I just want to make that
25 of nonexertional heat stroke. 25 point. Because the idea that when Ms. Polk stands
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up and says,|well -- you knov’we've been
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1 1 Ms. Do, a veWPshort letter, that Dr. Paul's report
2 surprised by fthis whole toxicity defense because we 2 does not disclose his opinion as to the cause of
3 didn't know, and the defense has sandbagged us 3 death of the victims in this case.
4 about this organophosphate issue -- that's just not 4 If he has formulated any such opinion, we
5 the case. 5 request you promptly disclose it and the reasons
6 The state has technically known for 6 supporting the opinion. That was sent out on
7 purposes of 1- you know -- maybe Detective Diskin 7 January 12. And there was no further
8 didn't know. | But the state has technically been on 8 supplementation.
9 notice of organophosphates from October 8th, 2009, 9 Again, it wasn't until I asked a question
10 the night of the accident. So it -- it is not true 10 of the doctor in his interview that we found out
11 that they've been, quote, unquote, sandbagged in 11 about his opinion about organophosphates.
12 any -- any respect. 12 MR. LI: The state is just irresponsibly
13 The reality is that detectives were in 13 misstating what the record is, Your Honor. The --
14 the room recording what was happening, talking to 14 the doctor did not say -- and we have never taken
15 people. And|they need -- you know -- I understand 15 the position that we know what caused these people
16 the state may take some other position. But an EMT 16 to die.
17 professional came in and gave the discussion that 17 We can't prove it because they don't have
18 the Court has already heard in 742. So it's not 18 the blood and they didn't test the blood when they
19 the case that they've been surprised by anything. 19 had the chance. And they threw away all the
20 This is their own evidence. 20 evidence when they had the chance to actually
21 And the fact that we have -- have 21 investigate it.
22 followed that lead, as we have followed every lead 22 They collected .0006693 percent of the
23 that has been provided to us, in a timely manner 23 dirt there and never tested it. We don't know what
24 and as we would follow had we been provided the 24 caused these folks to die. They happened to have
25 Haddow repart in a timely manner, we would have 25 symptoms that are consistent with organophosphates.
38 40
1 followed that lead as well. 1 And what Mr. Paul -- Dr. Paul said is,
2 But as we have followed every single 2 that's something I would have looked at, as the
3 lead, we have now been able to challenge the idea 3 state probably should have looked at back on
4 that the state has an ironclad or 4 October 8, 2009.
5 beyond-a-reasonable-doubt causation. That is our 5 1 think one of the -- and the reason why
6 right as defense attorneys. 6 I'm saying this so emphatically, Your Honor, is
7 And this idea that it's sort of an 7 because we are repeatedly -- as the defense here,
8 equal -- that we should have told them about the 8 we are repeatedly being put in the position of --
9 weakness of|the case, as the Court has already 9 by the state of them suggesting that we had some
10 acknowledged in a jury instruction to this jury, 10 sort of disclosure problem with them, when, in
11 that's not our responsibility. It is the state's 41 fact, the reality is they've known about
12 responsibility to prove all of the elements, 12 organophosphates from day one of this case.
13 including causation, beyond a reasonable doubt. 13 They could have investigated it. They
14 If the Court wants to know more about 14 didn't investigate it. That's what Dr. Paul said.
15 the -- Mr. --|Dr. Paul's report, I can -- I can 15 He did not say and we have never taken the position
16 provide or bring up a copy. 16 that -- that we know what caused these folks to
17 THE CQURT: I have my own copies, as you know. (17 die.
18 MR. LI: Okay. 18 THE COURT: Thank you.
19 THE CQURT: If I could have the number. 19 MS. POLK: Your Honor, may I provide you with
20 MS. DQO: Exhibit 1000, Your Honor. 20 a copy of the email that we received from Dr. Kent.
21 MR. LI: It's Exhibit 1000. 21 1 see in our pleadings that neither party attached
22 THE COURT: Okay. 22 this as an exhibit.
23 MR. HUGHES: And, Your Honor, on -- on that 23 THE COURT: I believe I said --
24 topic, I honestly forgot that I had written this 24 MR. LI: Exhibit --
25 letter. On January 12th I wrote a letter to 25 THE COURT: -- I saw that.
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1 MR. LI:| Yeah. It's thergt's Exhibit A 1 And, frankl& -- as the Court has already
2 to --it's an exhibit to -- it's Exhibit -- just 2 acknowledged, it is not consistent in any way with
3 give me a sec, Your Honor. 3 the evidence that we've already adduced at trial
4 THE COURT: I know I've seen an email for -- 4 and at the 404(b) hearing. This is so outside of
5 from March 12th. 5 the heartland of the testimony that we have heard
6 MR. LI:| It's Exhibit A to the -- to Mr. Ray's 6 from, I think, three or four different witnesses
7 motion to preclude the testimony. 7 and the photographs that we've seen. And so the
8 MS. POLK: And I raise it, Your Honor, because 8 idea that -- that this sort of -- you know --
9 the Court expressed concern that the content of 9 disclosure in an email.
10 Dr. Kent's testimony was not made known to the 10 And, Your Honor, just for the record, the
11 defense until Detective Diskin interviewed him. 11 email is during trial. It's not -- it's not prior
12 But, in fact, in this email provided to 12 to trial.
13 the defense on March 14th, the email from Dr. Kent 13 THE COURT: I know. You got it on March 14th.
14 specifically states, I saw several attendees who 14 MR. LI: And -- and --
15 could have hecome critically ill. I rallied the 15 THE COURT:; I realize that. And then Ms. Polk
16 assistants tqg treat the heat stroke victims more 16 received it on the 12th.
17 aggressively and at the end of the ceremony 17 MR. LI: And, Your Honor, just to -- you
18 gathered a few of the stronger people. And we went |18 know -- some of the cases that the Court is going
19 back inside the lodge and dragged out three more 19 to look at, the cases where experts have been
20 people who were unconscious and alone in the heat. |20 excluded, the late disclosure was actually on the
21 With the chaos outside the lodge, I expect they 21 day before trial. This is during trial.
22 would have been left there longer and died. 22 Your Honor, there are so many parts of
23 It's a quick synopsis. And then what 23 this trial that may have been done differently had
24 follows in the interview is much more detail about 24 we gotten adequate disclosure from the state both
25 that. But certainly on March 14, the defense had 25 in -- in compliance with their Brady obligation and
42 44
1 notice as to the bulk or the -- the general 1 with respect to this particular issue, Opening
2 contents of what Dr. Kent's testimony would be. 2 statements would have been done -- done different.
3 MR, LI: I misspoke, Your Honor. It's 3 There would have been different rulings. We would
4 Exhibit A to the state's response. 4 have understood that the 2008 issues were going to
5 THE COURT: And I'm looking at it right now, 5 comein.
6 Mr. Li. And|[I did have another conference 6 We would have -- there are so many things
7 scheduled at 9:00. But, Mr. Li -- and I'm looking 7 that could have been done differently had the state
8 at the exhibit now. And I guess what I had just 8 actually disclosed things on -- in a timely manner
9 finished reading, again, were the actual excerpts 9 so that we could have all -- okay. Here are the
10 from the interview, which in very small print -- 10 issues that we're going to be fighting over in
11 and I don't know how many actual pages it was. 1 11 court. Here's the issues that we're going to
12 read all this|detail and -- you know -- comparing 12 present to the jury, and we're going to argue about
13 that to what was actually provided that. 13 it.
14 But as Ms. Polk indicates, there -- there 14 And what's happening now is that the
15 is some -- some detail in -- in eight or nine lines 15 defense has -- has staked out a position, and then
16 or so. 16 the -- the state keeps on trying to backfill all of
17 MR. LI] It's not an expert disclosure, 17 the various arguments to rebut in its case in chief
18 Your Honor, by any -- any stretch of the 18 the various points that we have made.
19 imagination|under any rule. You know, it is simply 19 And I think we've made the point that
20 not enough for the state to sort of hint at various 20 there is a causation issue here. So they've tried
21 ideas that it might have about what its purported 21 to backfill that in the middle of trial with late
22 experts are |going to testify about. 22 disclosures and -- and Brady -- Brady material.
23 There are very strict requirements as to 23 And so -- and -- you know -- and then,
24 what an expert can testify about. And this 24 Your Honor -- and I know we've got actually another
25 disclosure in the middle of trial is inappropriate. 25 issue to discuss with respect to Dr. Dickson, who
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1 is the next witness. . 1 Dbelieved sheQuld be -- she wanted to talk to her

2 THE COURT: Oh, goodness. 2 cocounsel, that she believed she would be raising

3 MR. LI:| But -- 3 an issue this morning about whether Dr. Dickson

4 THE COURT: I'm already late on the conference 4 could testify or not. And that's -- that's about

5 in another case. 5 all that I know on that.

6 MR. LI:| I understand, Your Honor. And I'l 6 THE COURT: Ms. Do.

7 just make thjs last point, and then -- and then we 7 MS. DO: Thank you, Your Honor. T'll pick up

8 can address the Dickson issue. 8 where Mr. Li left off regarding the Haddow report.

9 But the state through it's intentional 9 I think the Court has marked as a court exhibit the
10 questioning back-doored the Haddow report. There 10 email that was sent to Dr. Dickson, as well as
11 was a spedific discussion -- question. And I think 11 Dr. Mosley and Dr. Lyon, where the state after the
12 the Court knows exactly the transcript that 1 12 Court found a Brady violation provided those expert
13 quoted where the County Attorney herself said to 13 witnesses with a copy of the Haddow report. 1
14 the detective, what do you believe was the cause of 14 believe the email was dated April 15.

15 death? 15 I did interview Dr. Dickson yesterday.

16 The detective answered, heat and carbon 16 And -- you know -- unfortunately, when you're in

17 dioxide. The County Attorney then specifically and 17 trial, it's difficult to find time to -- to do

18 purposely asked, was that information -- was that 18 these additional investigations while -- when the

19 consistent with information you received from a man 19 state continually provides additional information

20 named Rick Haddow? And -- and Detective Diskin 20 and materials to witnesses while we're in trial.

21 said, yes. 21 I learned yesterday that Dr. Dickson now

22 And then now we have this entire issue 22 believes that the signs and symptoms that he

23 now about hypercapnia that the Court has addressed 23 reviewed back in 2010 but made no mention of

24 in its ruling. |What the Court did not address is 24 hypercapnia -- he believes now after reviewing the

25 the fact -- is|that line of questioning, which we 25 Haddow report -- he, in fact, did review it -- that
46 48

1 contend can only be -- and I've written it down. 1 these signs and symptoms are consistent with

2 Is that consistent with the information that you 2 hypercapnia.

3 learned from the man named Rick Haddow? Thatisan | 3 He wrote three reports about the causes

4 intentional effort to bring in the Haddow report 4 of death for the decedents dated January 10, 2011.

5 through Detective Diskin. And we'd ask that the 5 He made no mention of hypercapnia. His conclusion,

6 Court make that finding. 6 in confiict with the medical examiner's testimony

7 MS. POLK: And, Your Honor, in the interest of 7 in this case, was that it was heat stroke and

8 time, I won't respond now. But when appropriate, I 8 nothing else.

9 would hke to make a full record on -- on that 9 I interviewed him on January 25, 2011.
10 issue. I donlt believe what Mr. Li has said is 10 And armed with the disclosure I had, I interviewed
11 correct. 11 him only about his conclusion of heat stroke. I
12 THE COURT: Okay. And could we talk about -- 12 had no idea that the doctor would offer an opinion
13 we need to tak about the next witness apparently. 13 regarding hypercapnia. I asked him specifically,

14 Mr. Hughes and Ms. Polk. 14 Doctor, what is your differential diagnosis based

15 MR. HUGHES: Your Honor, the state does intend |15 upon what you reviewed? He made no mention of
16 to call Dr. Dickson. The state had asked 16 hypercapnia.

17 Dr. Dickson back at the end of March or perhaps the 17 Yesterday he said that it's definitely a

18 first day of April to do some follow up on 18 possibility. He rendered opinions about miosis

19 organophosphates and on rat poison. And we sent an |19 being consistent. And the problem that I'm

20 email to the|defense on April 5th indicating the 20 having -- and the Court knows that I've been taking
21 doctor might be testifying about those topics. 21 on the witnesses regarding the medical issues -- is
22 Following that letter we tried to get the 22 that beginning with Dr. Mosley, this is the first

23 defense to do an interview of the doctor, which 23 time that I've heard of miosis being a sign and

24 finally was accomplished yesterday. And after the 24 symptom of hypercapnia.

25 interview was over, Ms. Do indicated that she 25 And I just have not been allowed the time
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1 to do my duge diligence in regching or exploring 1 that's now ulative. We've had three medical
2 with my own expert whether or not that is actually 2 doctors in the state's case testify to heat-related
3 true. To dateI have not found any published 3 illnesses, signs and symptoms in addition to Nell
4 literature that says miosis is a sign in 4 Armstrong -- I'm sorry, Nell Wagoner and Jeanne
5 hypercapnia. 5 Armstrong who proffered some testimony on that
6 This really highlights the problem that 6 issue.
7 the defense |is faced with since the state violated 7 I know that the Court has a conference.
8 Brady, magnified that problem by providing that 8 But I also wanted to note that there are other
9 information that the Court found was in violation 9 problems with Dr. Dickson. In his report, he
10 of Brady to experts who were going to take the 10 specifically relies on the prior events to reach
11 stand. 11 his conclusion that this was, in fact, heat stroke.
12 Now I've got an expert who is tainted by 12 The Court has made numerous rulings
13 that Haddow report. And it's difficult for me to 13 regarding admissibility of prior events and has now
14 determine how I'm going to navigate through that in |14 limited any additional testimony to what has
15 cross-examination while complying with this Court's |15 already been adduced in this trial by way of the
16 order that we should not ask questions that elicit 16 2007 and 2008.
17 hearsay. Saq that's one problem. 17 The state provided him with Daniel
18 The other issues that I have with 18 Pfankuch's -- or Daniel P.'s medical record.
19 Dr. Dickson |is that when we were provided notice of |19 Despite what the Court has seen, he's rendering an
20 his testimony -- or proposed testimony in this 20 opinion that Daniel P. suffered from heat stroke.
21 court, the state filed the 21st supplemental 21 So I would ask the Court to review the report. 1
22 disclosure on December 3rd, 2010, noticing his 22 think that that particular opinion should not be
23 scope -- the scope of his testimony was he will 23 admitted if he is qualified to testify.
24 testify as to|identification of medical treatment 24 And then, finally, he rendered an opinion
25 of heat-related ilinesses. 25 in his report that goes to knowledge and
50 52
1 And since receiving that disclosure, the 1 recklessness, which is far beyond the scope of any
2 state has through informal notices expanded the 2 medical expert. He says, basically, that, in my
3 scope of his|testimony to now be offering him as an 3 opinion, appropriately trained medical personnel
4 expert on the cause of death. 4 that are not being exposed to extreme heat of the
5 Dr. Dickson, one, did not treat any of 5 sweat lodge should have been present at the event
6 the patients|in this case, and, two, is not a 6 to evaluate all the participants for heat illness
7 medical or forensic pathologist. He's not 7 symptoms.
8 qualified to testify to the cause of death. He was 8 Multiple patients at this event and prior
9 asked by the state to, essentially, review the 9 events had signs and symptoms of classic heat
10 medical examiners' autopsy reports and medical 10 stroke. In my opinion, the decedents' symptoms
11 records and|to determine whether or not these 11 were not recognized and treated soon enough, which
12 medical examiners' conclusion on cause of death is 12 resulted in their deaths.
13 correct or not. 13 So all of the opinions that I'm
14 The Court has heard from the medical 14 describing for the Court go beyond what was
15 examiners. |And, essentially, what I expect is 15 disclosed in the 21st supplemental. It goes beyond
16 Dr. Dickson|will come in and impeach the state's 16 his training and his experience and qualifications.
17 own witnesses and say it's heat stroke. I rule out 17 It goes into areas that raises for us against the
18 organophosphates. The signs and symptoms are 18 issues of the Haddow report and disclosure
19 inconsistent. 19 violations.
20 So there is an issue about whether or not 20 THE COURT: The CO2 information from the
21 he's even qualified to testify regarding cause of 21 Haddow report isn't really the exculpatory
22 death. 22 information. That's information, though, that
23 hat we were provided notice of was that |23 should have been disclosed under the normal
24 he was going to testify to the signs and symptoms 24 disclosure rules. And I mentioned in the ruling,
25 of heat-related illnesses. And I would submit that 25 CO2 has been mentioned throughout the case and
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1 brought up. 1 AM®so I find it difficult now after he
2 With regard to discussing what should 2 has received the Haddow report, reviewed it, and
3 have been done, that's -- that's, again, going into 3 considered it that -- you know -- he's just saying
4 some kind of standard of care. Again, I don't -- 1 4 that hypercapnia has always been there.
5 don't see how a medical doctor would -- he can talk 5 So what I see, basically, is an expert
6 about causation but not about how someone who is 8 witness being tainted with information that has
7 conducting this type of an -- of an event, how it 7 been preciuded.
8 should be canducted. 8 MR. HUGHES: And, Your Honor, he -- Mr, -- or
9 And, once again, it gets into that 9 Dr. Dickson was asked about that also, and said
10 distinction between negligence principles and 10 he's had the opinion about hypercapnia since before
11 recklessness principles as well. 11 the Haddow report. During his interview -- and
12 The other matters with regard to 12 remember, doctor -- in the order of things,
13 causation. I've indicated before, and I 13 Dr. Dickson was interviewed, I believe, before he
14 anticipated this. It's in the record. That If the 14 even received Dr. Paul's report before we had
15 state appropriately provides what has been observed |15 interviewed Dr. Paul.
16 in the 2007,/ 2008, he can deal with that. 16 But in Dr. Dickson's report, for whatever
17 I'm more concerned with Daniel P., 17 reason, there were -- in his interview there were
18 though, because that was a subject of a separate 18 no questions whatsoever about -- from the defense,
19 motion and a separate issue. 19 from anybody, about organophosphates, about what
20 MR. HUGHES: Your Honor, the doctor's opinion |20 could explain these other causes or symptoms that
21 about Daniel| P. was rendered long before the Court |21 we've been hearing about in other patients, like
22 made that -+ made the ruling. And I did not intend 22 the miosis, for the foaming at the mouth, things --
23 to ask the doctor about Mr. P, 23 there was just no questioning about any of these
24 In|fact, prior to our starting today, 24 areas.
25 I'll sit down with him and tell him that I don't 25 And so the doctor didn't have an
54 56
1 intend to ask anything about it. I'll explain the 1 opportunity to explain at that time why he believed
2 Court's ruling. And I assume Ms, Do won't ask him 2 that those symptoms that the defense now believes
3 about it either. So unless Ms. Do corrects me that 3 are consistent with organophosphates -- why they
4 she will ask about that, I'll let him know that -- 4 would be consistent with the deaths based on heat
5 that he shouldn't expect any questions. 5 or exposure inside of the sweat lodge.
6 With respect to Mr. Haddow's report, he 6 Again, if he had been asked about it -- I
7 indicated at|our interview he didn't really pay 7 think he tried to make it clear in his interview
8 much attention. It didn't really open his -- I 8 last night -- he would have explained that. But he
9 think the words he said was Haddow's report didn't 9 wasn't asked about that.
10 open his mind to anything new about the conditions |10 And we did disclose that he would talk
11 inside the sweat lodge, because he had read in the 11 about -- in our original disclosure statement about
12 witness statements that there were areas of good 12 the deaths from heat. And, I think, to talk about
13 air and bad air. And I will make it very clear to 13 deaths from heat, it's important to talk about why
14 him that I won't ask him anything about 14 the other theories that the defense has now raised
15 Mr. Haddow]s report either. 15 don't contradict that opinion.
16 THE COURT: Ms. Do, points out, though, that 16 And then certainly since then, we've sent
17 this is the first time hypercapnia ever gets 17 out an email on April 5th to the defense indicating
18 mentioned by him. 18 that he'd be talking about signs and symptoms and
19 MS. DQ: Your Honor, unlike Dr. Mosley, who 19 theories involving poisoning. We clarified also
20 when I asked about differential diagnoses, did 20 that included organophosphates, rat poison, and
21 throw out the possibility of CO2, Dr. Dickson wrote 21 that sort of thing.
22 three reports. I interviewed him on January 25, 22 But I don't believe this is something new
23 2011, and asked very specific questions and 23 by the doctor. He made it clear he's had this
24 followed up |by continually asking, what else would 24 opinion.
25 vyou consider? 25 With respect to his qualifications, I
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approach? .

[

1 believe he's 1
2 medicine, but also in the field of medicine called 2 THE COURT: Okay.
3 "hyperbaric medicine," which he explained actually 3 (Sidebar conference.)
4 deals with issues involving hypercapnia and other 4 MS. POLK: The jury doesn't have their
5 gases in the blood. So he's -- if anything, he is 5§ notebooks.
6 eminently qualified to talk about his opinion that, 6 (End of sidebar conference.)
7 for example, hypercapnia could cause the miosis. 7 THE COURT: That's what they were discussing
8 THE COURT: Ms. Do, anything else? 8 this morning. So let's go ahead and do those.
9 MS. DO: Your Honor -- you know -- the state 9 THE CLERK: Should we swear in the witness?
10 doesn't want|to acknowledge United States v. 10 THE COURT: We'll do that.
11 Marshall. It's not the defense's obligation or 11 Dr. Dickson, would you please raise your
12 burden to pojnt out the state’'s weaknesses. And 12 right hand and be sworn by the clerk.
13 when we interviewed their experts, we're there to 13 MATTHEW DICKSON,
14 determine what their experts know, not to educate 14 having been first duly sworn upon his oath to tell
15 their experts|and provide them with the weaknesses 15 the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the
16 in their opinions. 16 truth, testified as follows:
17 I had a -- I had a very, very broad 17 THE COURT: And, sir, if you'd please be
18 question for each of these experts. And that is, 18 seated here to my right.
19 In your determination of the cause of death, what 19 And then Ms. Rybar will go and get the
20 are the differential diagnoses? And for a doctor 20 notebooks that the jury started telling me about a
21 that Mr. Hughes purports to be an expert in 21 minute ago. And we'll sit here quietly for a
22 hypercapnia to fail to mention that it was obvious 22 moment.
23 from the signs and symptoms, I find trouble with 23 Duly noted.
24 that. The only mention of it comes after he was 24 (Pause in proceedings.)
25 provided with the Haddow report. 25 THE COURT: Dr. Dickson, if you would please
58 60
1 THE COURT: And that certainly can be the 1 start out by stating and spelling your full name.
2 subject of cross-examination. I'm going to listen 2 THE WITNESS: Matthew, M-a-t-t-h-e-w; Dickson,
3 to foundational testimony. But the only thing that 3 D-i-c-k-s-o-n.
4 1 can say that won't be allowed is what I've 4 THE COURT: Thank you.
5 mentioned, the talk about what should have been 5 Mr. Hughes.
6 done and that kind of thing. 6 MR. HUGHES: Thank you.
7 MS. DO: And the Daniel P? 7 DIRECT EXAMINATION
8 THE COURT: Right. And Mr. Hughes has agreed 8 BY MR. HUGHES:
9 with that. So that won't be part of this either. 9 Q. Doctor, can you tell us what you do for a
10 We do need to get the trial started. I 10 living.
11 need to take|a conference call. 1 A. I'm an emergency medicine physician at
12 Thank you. 12 Yuma Regional Medical Center.
13 (Recess.) 13 Q. And how long have you been a physician?
14 (Proceedings continued in the presence of 14 A. Since 2000. So 11 years.
15 jury.) 15 Q. Can you walk us through your -- your
16 THE COURT: The record will show the presence 16 education to become a physician.
17 of the defendant, Mr. Ray, all of the attorneys, 17 A. Well, it's four years of college, four
18 and the jury 18 years of medical school, and then four years of
19 Good morning. 19 residency, which you do specialty training. Did an
20 And, Mr. Hughes, you may call the next 20 internship followed by a three-year residency in
21 witness. 21 emergency medicine.
22 MR. HUGHES: Thank you, Your Honor. The state |22 Q. And where did you do your undergraduate
23 calls Dr. Dickson. 23 education at?
24 THE CQURT: Okay. 24 A. University of California at Santa Cruz.
25 MS. POLK: Your Honor, may we briefly 25 Q. And where did you, then, go to medical
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1 school? 1 A. CoMect.
2 A. Western University of Health Sciences. 2 Q. And can you tell us, then, what emergency
3 Q. And can you tell us where you did your 3 medicine is.
4 internship at. 4 A. It's what it sounds like. It's the
5 A. At/Kern Medical Center. It's one of 5 practice of emergency medicine. And I work in the
6 UCLA's programs in Bakersfield, California. 6 ER. That's my office. Basically, you see
7 Q. And where did you do your residency? 7 everything that comes in the door. The acute -
8 A. Same place. One of UCLA's programs, Kern 8 acute care of patients.
9 Medical Center. 9 Q. And do you have any board certification?
10 Q. And can you explain for us the difference 10 A. I'm board certified in emergency
11 between an internship and a residency. 11 medicine. I also run a hyperbaric chamber and
12 A. They're, essentially, the same thing. 412 wound care center. I'm also board certified in
13 Your first year of internship is a -- is the -- the 13 hyperbaric medicine as well.
14 first year of residency is your internship. 14 Q. And who do you have your board
15 Emergency medicine residencies come in three 15 certifications?
16 flavors. There is a one through three, a two 16 A. The American Board of Emergency Medicine,
17 through four, or a one through four. So it just 17 which is under the American Board of Medical
18 depends on what you match. And so mine was a two 18 Specialties.
19 through four, so they required an internship before 19 Q. And what do you have to do to become a
20 you go there. 20 board certified physician?
21 Q. And are you currently employed as a 21 A. You have to do a residency, then take a
22 physician? 22 test. And then there's continuing education every
23 A. Yes. 23 vyear. And then you recertify every 10 years.
24 Q. And can you tell us where you're employed 24 Q. And how long have you been board
25 and what your duties are as a physician. 25 certified iIn emergency medicine?
62 64
1 A. I'm employed at Yuma Regional Medical 1 A. I finished my residency in 2004 and took
2 Center in Yuma, Arizona. I'm the -- one of the 2 the test and was board certified in 2005.
3 attending physicians. I'm also the EMS medical 3 Q. And how long have you been board
4 director. I run the -- I'm the medical director 4 certified in hyperbaric medicine?
5 for our county's emergency medical system, the 5 A. Two years.
6 paramedics, the first responders. 6 Q. Do you -- do you have any medical or
7 Q. And how long have you been the EMS 7 other professional licenses?
8 medical director in Yuma? 8 A. Medical I don't think so. Just Arizona
9 A. Five years. 9 and California.
10 Q. And can you tell us, do you -- your 10 Q. Okay.
11 medical degree, is that a -- can you tell us what 1 A. That's where I'm licensed.
12 your medical degree is. 12 Q. Let me ask you that. What states are you
13 A. I'maDO, a doctor of osteopathic 13 licensed to practice medicine?
14 medicine. 14 A. Arizona and California.
15 Q. And can you tell us -- we've had some 15 Q. And how long have you been licensed to
16 testimony from a -- from a physician with an MD. 16 practice medicine in those two states?
17 Can you tell us the difference between a medical 17 A. Arizona for 7 years and California 10
18 degree with the DO as opposed to an MD. 18 years.
19 A. Nota lot. In medical school you spend 19 Q. And do you have any hospital privileges?
20 an extra couple of hours a week working on the 20 A. Yes. Yuma Regional Medical Center.
21 musculoskeletal system. Like, once -- once that's 21 Q. And can you tell us what hospital
22 over, it depends on what you decide to practice. 22 privileges are.
23 In emergency medicine I don't use a lot of that. 23 A. The privilege to practice medicine in the
24 Q. Asa--asa DO, then, you had some 24 hospital.
25 additional training In the musculoskeletal system? 25 Q. And this may seem like a silly question.
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But have you|ever treated pati* on a

67
involve at Iegn part a study of the gases that

1 1
2 professional basis? 2 are in the blood?
3 A. Yes 3 A. Absolutely. And some of the other things
. 4 Q. And do you have any idea how many 4 it's used for is for things like carbon monoxide
5 patients you've treated to this point in your § poisoning. You can put them in a chamber, and it
6 career? 6 cures them a lot faster than the regular
7 A. Thousands. 7 treatments. And definitely you've got to know
8 Q. And at what hospitals have you treated 8 about gas exchange for it.
9 patients? 9 Q. You mentioned that you've treated
10 A. My residency was at Kern Medical Center. |10 thousands of patients. Do you have any idea how
11 And I treated patients there. I did a little bit 11 many thousands you've treated?
12 of what's called "moonlighting,” where you work as |12 A. Well, let's see. I have 20 patients a
13 a -- as a doc¢ during your residency. That's Tulare 13 day on average. I probably work 150 days a year
14 Regional Medical Center, which is in Tulare, 14 for 11 years. That's a lot.
15 California. And then the rest has been Yuma 15 Q. Okay. And I became a lawyer so I didn't
16 Regional. 16 have to do a lot of math. And so I won't figure
17 Q. And as part of your professional duties, 17 that out for you. But can you -- do you have any
18 have you ever had the opportunity or been called 18 idea -- have you ever treated patients who have
19 upon to determine causes of death based upon 19 suffered from heat-related ilinesses?
20 reviewing patients’' medical records? 20 A. Yes.
21 A. Yes. I'm the emergency department 21 Q. And Iimagine down in Yuma you -- you'll
22 representatjve for quality committee at our 22 see that from time to time?
23 hospital. So it's a continuous process of quality 23 A. Very frequently.
24 improvement. And we need to look at things, such |24 Q. And do you have any idea how many
25 as deaths, to determine the cause. 25 patients you've treated that have suffered from
‘ 66 68
1 Q. And how would you go about making a 1 some sort of heat-related illness?
2 review as part of that committee? 2 A. Probably 20 to 30 that I personally see a
3 A. You're mostly reviewing medical records 3 year -- a summer.
4 and discussing with physicians what their -- and 4 Q. And of those, do you have an idea how
5 nurses what they saw as well as other -- I guess § many patients you've seen that have suffered from
6 you would say the patients' opinions of what 6 nonexertional heat stroke?
7 happened. 7 A. Probably, I'd say, a third of those.
8 Q. AndI believe I asked you about emergency 8 Q. Have you ever treated a patient for
9 medicine. Can you tell us -- you mentioned the 9 hypercapnia?
10 hyperbaric medicine. What is that? 10 A. Yes.
1 A. Hyperbaric medicine is, basically, what 11 Q. And do you have an idea how many you've
12 you -- it started out with dive patients, people 12 treated?
13 that are drivers. They can sometimes get the 13 A. Probably in the hundred range -- hundred
14 bends. I don't know if you've heard of that. It's 14 or 200 range. It's a pretty common problem.
15 people that/go down and then come up too quickly. |15 Q. And have you ever treated patients for
16 Hyperbaric oxygen -- or hyperbaric medicine was 16 exposure to organophosphates?
17 used to actually pressurize these patients so they 17 A. Yes.
18 cannot get so sick. 18 Q. And do you have any idea how many you've
19 Nitrogen toxi- -- nitrogen narcosis is 19 treated?
20 something else that divers get. They get, like, 20 A. Probably -- it's not that frequent, but
. 21 too much nitrogen. Itis used now -- we use it 21 we do have a lot of farming in our community. So
22 predominantly for nonhealing wounds. People with |22 probably about 10, I'd say.
23 diabetes that have wounds on their legs that won't | 23 Q. Isthat 10 per year or 10 total?
24 heal, it's a very effective tool for that. 24 A. Probably 10 total.
25 Q. And does hyperbaric medicine, then, 25 Q. You mentioned you have a lot of farming.
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Is there some sort of a commongominator in the

4

those 20 hou’

1 1
2 patients that you've seen that have come to the 2 A. I've reviewed medical records, reviewed
3 emergency department for organophosphate poisoning? 3 the witness reports, reviewed some reports from
4 A. Yeah. They're normally farm workers. 4 other physicians in the case.
5 Another -- we had a -- actually, we've had several 5 Q. And as a result of the work that you've
6 incidents where a couple of years ago when the -- 6 done, have you reached some opinions as to the
7 oh. We had military down by the border, and some 7 cause of death of James Shore, Kirby Brown, and Liz
8 of them were actually sprayed by some of the -- the 8 Neuman?
9 helicopters or the planes that were spraying crops. 9 A. Yes.
10 Those were the bigger exposures that we've seen. 10 Q. And Tl -- T'll get to those. Can you
1 Q. And the farm workers. Do you know how 11 tell us, then, Doctor, turning to heat-related
12 they came to be exposed? 12 illness, what are the different heat-related
13 A. Generally just from handling it. 13 illnesses that you might see as an emergency room
14 Q. And would those be industrial 14 doctor?
15 organophosphates that they were using? 15 A. That's a great question. Heat iliness is
16 A. Yes. They're industrial. 16 something that they talk a lot about because of --
17 Q. Have you ever treated a patient for 17 Can I talk to them?
18 exposure to home organophosphates? 18 Q. Yes. Absolutely.
19 A. What -- people that were exposed to it. 19 A. I'msorry.
20 But the symptoms are normally pretty minimal due to |20 Heat illness is something that I talk a
21 the low concentrations that you see in home 21 lot about because of -- of where we are. Yuma,
22 organophosphates. The stuff that you buy at Home 22 Arizona. I don't know if you're familiar with it.
23 Depot doesn't have a lot of organophosphate in it 23 It's hot. It's a -- you know -- the average summer
24 because of the -- because of the risk of poisoning. 24 temperature high is 107.
25 Q. And were you actually involved in this 25 And as an EMS medical director, I get to
70 72
1 particular case as a treating physician? 1 teach all of our first responders, whether they're
2 A. No. 2 the paramedics, fire fighters, police. We havea
3 Q. Hoawis it that you came to be involved in 3 Marine Corps air base there, also an Army base.
4 this case? 4 And I get to teach ther medics too.
5 A. I was asked to -- to -- I was somebody 5 And it's something that I think is very
6 who does a lot of teaching with our EMS, our first 6 important because a lot of our -- first of all, our
7 responders, in heat illness. And somebody said -- 7 first responders are exposed to heat illness. And
8 they said, would you be interested in doing this? 8 so I like for them to understand heat illness and
9 Q. Are you working as a paid expert, then, 9 its symptoms predominantly so they can recognize it
10 in this case? 10 in themselves. That's one of the biggest things
1 A. Iam. 11 that we see in our emergency department is fire
12 Q. And how much are you being paid? 12 fighters unfortunately succumb to heat illness
13 A. $400 an hour. 13 quite frequently.
14 Q. And do you have an idea how much time 14 And our first responders are border
15 you've put into this case to this point as an 15 patrol. They're exposed to a lot of this. And I
16 expert? 16 want them to be able to recognize it in themselves
17 A. About 20 hours so far. 17 and in their -- in their -- their partners when
18 Q. And do you have a retainer agreement with 18 they're out there.
19 the state? 19 So back to your question about the types
20 A. Yes. 20 of heat iliness. They break it up into two
21 Q. A written agreement? 21 categories. Heat iliness is either exertional heat
22 A. Written agreement. Yes. 22 illness or classic heat illness. An exertional is
23 Q. And you say you've put about 20 hours in. 23 what you think about it. It's exerting yourself,
24 Can you tell ys in general the work that you've 24 We see a lot of people like the -~ the football
25 done to this date, what -- what you've done over 25 players. They used to call it "double days" when I
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was in -- in high school.

Th
double days.

football players got to do the -- the
They had to put on their pads and
practice in the morning and practice in the
afternoon. That's when they're really exerting
themselves.
But in August in Yuma, it's -~ you
know -- 110 degrees. And plus it starts to get
actually humid. So we see a lot of people, a lot

of young students that way.

That's the classic exertional heat
stroke. People start presenting -- or -- or heat
start presenting with muscle cramps,
nausea, vomiting. And one of the scary things
about heat illness is if you don't stop it -- stop
whatever you're doing, whether it's exertional or
not, and start cooling down, you can progress to
what's called "heat stroke.”

And heat stroke is -- is the bad one.
And that's where people die. Once you've crossed
that line into heat stroke from heat exhaustion,
you're in big trouble. You start to die. Of
mortality rates, meaning the people that are going
to die, can go from anywhere from 10 to 80 percent.
So when you think about an 80 percent chance of --
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a coma an’ok dead. It can go all the way, the
whole spectrum.

So that's kind of the progression of --
of heat illness. It can start with a mild disease
where you have to recognize the symptoms. But then
when you get to that point where you're now in heat
stroke, you're in trouble, and you have those
changes in mental status, which you really haveto
treat these people aggressively.

So backing up a little bit, where we
talked about exertional heat iliness, there is also
the classic heatillness. And that's where you
hear, like, in the -- in New York and Chicago when
they have these big heat waves, and you hear all
these people die. And that is — it's kind of a
different population.

Generally, it's an elderly population
because they might not have the -- some of them
don't have the resources or the -- sometimes there
is dementia, Alzheimer's, and they might not have
the capacity to go, hmm. It's too hot in my
apartment. The power is out. It's 110 degrees. I
need to get to someplace cool. And those are the
ones where you see a lot of deaths in -- the big
deaths of heat iliness.
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of dying, it's a — it's a scary thing.

And so I try to educate people on their
symptoms. en they are working out, when they're
playing football, whatever they're doing, whether
they're at a fire, when they start feeling muscle
cramps, feeling weak, feeling nauseous, stop now
while you're okay before you progress to heat
stroke.

The problem with -- when you go to heat
stroke, one of the cardinal signs of heat stroke is
you get a change in mental status. And that's
tough because if you're the one who's changed in
mental status, you're not going to recognize this
isn't right. And the change in mental status can
be subtle. It can be someone just making a bad
decision.

I teach our paramedics to watch their
partners. Ifithey're -- if they're -- they're
taking care of a patient and all of a sudden their
partner starts doing things that just medically
aren't right, lwell, pay attention to that. Because
now they've stepped into that heat stroke realm.

And it can become more serious. Itcan
come into they can actintoxicated. They can be

violent. They can have seizures, or they can be in
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Again, it's the same sort of symptoms,
but you have to be able to recognize it when
it's — when you start out. For example, your
power goes out, and it's 110 degrees, and you're
not - you're realizing, gosh. I'm feeling
nauseous. I'm feeling sick. I better do something
about this.

You've got to cool down. And if you
don't cool down, you're going to progress to that
heat stroke. And the heat stroke is when you start
having that mental status changes. And the problem
is is if you're alone or you're with people that
are in that same predicament, several people in an
apartment or in a -- or in a house that don't have
air-conditioning, they're not going to recognize it
among each other that something is not right, and
they can progress to death.

So those are the two, exertional and
classic heat iliness, the two categories they are.

Q. And, Doctor, you mentioned with heat
stroke you can start to see mental status changes,
maybe ranging from making a bad decision on to you
mentioned comatose or death.

Can you explain a little bit. At some
point does the mental status changes that you
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always giv. off electromagnetic rays, waves, and

1 1
2 correlate with the severity of the heat stroke that 2 you're radiating heat. That's actually one of the
3 the person is suffering from? 3 best ways to get rid of heat. You get rid of 65
4 A. Well, if you're unconscious, you're not 4 percent of your body's heat that way. Butifit's
5 going to do as well as somebody that's just acting 5 107 outside and your body is 98, you're not giving
6 a little goofy. I mean, generally the people that 6 off any heat.
7 have gotten all the way to unconscious and then if 7 One of the best things that we do is when
8 they don't wake up quickly so somebody is -- one of | 8 it's not humid -- because fortunately in Yuma it's
9 the things we -- we teach is to treat these 9 not very humid. It's dry even in the monsoon
10 patients. Get them cool very, very quickly, the 10 season. It's -- if -- you know -- a humid day in
11 people that have gone to heat stroke. 11  Yuma is 40 percent humidity. We want to do
12 The longer you wait to cool them down, 12 evaporative cooling. And that's where we just,
13 the much worse they're going to do. If you wait 13 basically, put water on them and fan them. So if
14 more than an hour or two, their chance of death 14 you're -- that's our best bet in Yuma in cooling
15 goes way up. So the sooner you cool them, the 15 these patients.
16 better they're going to do. 16 Q. Thank you for that explanation.
17 So people that are unconscious definitely |17 A. Idon't know if I answered your question
18 do worse. But if you can get to them early and you |18 thoroughly enough.
19 can cool them off and they wake up, it's a great 19 Q. No. You did.
20 sign. 20 A. Okay.
21 It's the ones that the paramedics have 21 Q. People who may have seen on TV placing a
22 done a great job. They've tried to cool them. 22 patient in an ice bath -- you know -- a bathtub
23 They've given them LV. fluids. They've got the 23 full of ice cubes and water -- is that something
24 air-conditioning on. They're fanning them. 24 that you frequently do in the emergency department?
25 They're trying to really cool them down. And they 25 A. Wedon't. It's a dangerous thing to do.
78 80
1 don't wake up by the time they get to the ER. And 1 If you think about it, you've got somebody that's
2 we're able to do our thing trying to cool them 2 unconscious and they can't protect their airway,
3 down, and they're not waking up. And it's been 3 that's a big thing. You don’t want to put somebody
4 three or four hours despite we've gotten their 4 who is unconscious in a tub of water. If their
5 temperature down, it's not -- it's not a good sign 5 head rolls underwater, they're going to get a bunch
6 when that happens. 6 of water into their lungs. And that's a bad thing.
7 Q. How would you typically try and cool a 7 The things we generally do is we can use
8 patient who arrives at the emergency department 8 cold I.V. fluids. We fan them. It's 70 degrees in
9 suffering from heat stroke? 9 our ER -- or 65 degrees in the ER. So it's
10 A. Do you want the whole -- I'll give you -- 10 definitely cool. So we get to get radiative heat
11 you're going to get a whole lecture on heat 11 loss. We put ice on them.
12 illness. 12 We can do more invasive techniques. We
13 There's four ways people get rid of heat. 13 can put a tube down into their stomach, and then
14 There is conduction, which is, basically, you're 14 you put in cold ice water and then success it back
15 conducting heat. If you put ice packs on your 15 out. And then you just keep circulating cold water
16 groin, on your face -- you know -- you're trying to 16 into their stomach.
17 cool yourself out. And that's one of the 17 You can also do things like putting it in
18 techniques we use. 18 their bladder to cool it down. You can put a
19 The problem is if it's hotter outside and 19 catheter into their bladder and wash out their
20 you don't have ice packs, it's not really going to 20 bladder with cold water. I know it sounds a little
21 help you. One of the problems we have in Yuma is 21 invasive. But these are patients that are really
22 when you have a patient -- or somebody that's out 22 sick- And our goal is to treat them, cool them
23 in the heat, most of the ways to cool yourself off 23 down very, very quickly.
24 are not effective. 24 Fortunately, most of our prehospital or
25 There is a radiative heat loss. You're 25 EMS are so good at it that by the time they get to
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us, they're mostly cool. The'o a really great

83
know -- an‘n elderly lady was stuck in a mobile

1 1
2 job of cooling them effectively and quickly. 2 home without air-conditioning, and the paramedic
3 Q. You gave a hypothetical a moment ago 3 said, wow. I went in there and it was really,
4 about telling the -- a paramedic to keep an eye 4 really, really hot, and she was not acting
. 5 on -- on his partner or her partner to make sure. 5 appropriately. Just giving you an exampie. You've
6 In that situation, let's say someone Is starting to 6 got to think that this is -- this is heat illness,
7 act a little -- a little sketchy, for example. 7 Heat exhaustion, the separating point is
8 Does that person need immediate hospitalization, or 8 there are temperatures that people use. The
9 is there ways that they can be treated maybe by 9 classic temperature they use -- it's all over the
10 their partner night then and there? 10 map in the literature. But the classic temperature
11 A. When you -- it's -- they talk about heat 11 is 104 degrees. They say below 104 is heat
12 iliness as heat exhaustion and heat stroke like 12 exhaustion and above is heat stroke. But
13 they're two separate things. And they're really 13 unfortunately in practice that really doesn't work.
14 not. They're a continuum. If you're heading down 14 One of the big reasons is getting that
15 that path of heat exhaustion, if you don't correct 15 temperature. That's a core temperature, meaning
16 what you're doing, you're going to become heat 16 it's a rectal thermometer. And they don't really
17 stroke guaranteed. 17 do that in the prehospital setting very often.
18 And if you still don't correct it, you're 18 So it's more on a clinical. What do they
19 going to die. So it is a separate -- they are on 19 look like? Is somebody just having nausea,
20 paper two separate entities. But they're really a 20 vomiting, some muscle cramps? That's heat
21 continuum. 21 exhaustion. If they're having mental status
22 And the key mark on that where you jump 22 changes, that's heat stroke.
23 from heat exhaustion, which most people do just 23 Q. And you mentioned a temperature. At what
24 fine with, to heat stroke is when you have those 24 point are you looking for the temperature?
25 mental status changes. So when people exhibit 25 Assuming you could get one, is it at the -- at the
o = z
1 those mental status changes, that's the big red 1 point of exposure to the heat or after exposure to
2 flag, hey. We've got to be really aggressive with 2 the heat?
3 these people. We really got to check them out. 3 A. It's at the point of exposure. And
4 So I would definitely not recommend 4 that's the challenge in all these is -~ you know --
5 somebody that's having signs of heat stroke, that 5 what is the temperature when they were hot? And
6 change in mental status, to -- to be treated 6 people cool quickly, thank goodness. But if you
7 just -- without seeing a doctor. 7 can be very aggressive, you can cool these people
8 Q. If they -- if they were taken someplace 8 very quickly.
9 cool and they were still in that early stages where 9 Q. You mentioned the -- the rectal
10 it's mild mental status changes, would you expect 10 ‘temperature or core temperature. Are there other
11 without hospital care and just with cooling that 11 ways that -- that people have their temperature
12 they could get better? 12 taken?
13 A. 1It's possible. 13 A. Yeah. Most of the time, they do what's
14 Q. Do you know what the criteria are for 14 called a "tympanic membrane” or an ear temperature.
15 diagnosing heat exhaustion in a hospital setting? 15 I'm going to go to the doctor, and it's much nicer
16 A. Well, it's a -- it's a clinical 16 than having to put a thermometer under your tongue.
17 diagnosis. What that means is there's not a magic 17 They can do an ear temperature.
18 test for it. There is not a blood test that we can 18 Unfortunately, it's -- in the setting of
19 say this is heat exhaustion, this is heat stroke. 18 heat -- heat illness, it's not a reliable method of
20 I wish there was, but there is not. 20 taking the temperature.
. 21 And so the criteria are, basically, if 21 Q. And why is that?
22 vyou're having the -- the -- if somebody has been 22 A. Well, it's -- supposedly it's supposed to
23 exposed to heat, so you've got just look at the 23 go to your tympanic membrane or your eardrum. And
24 scenario. 24 it all depends on how it's pointed. Because if
25 So the -- the guy was stuck in a -- you 25 it's just -- if they point it right at your eardrum
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gotten the’older that they're supposed to be.

]

1 or if they point it to the side, ¥t might not get 1
2 the right temperature. 2 They tell you actually to stop cooling
3 And there has been great studies on this 3 when they to about 102. Because the odds are
4 years -- from years and years and years of studies 4 you're going to overshoot, and you're going to end
5 on this. Andthere's been -- one of the most 5 up getting them too low. So you have to be
6 recent one was they took a bunch of volunteers, or 6 careful. It's not a -- it's not a reliable
7 people. They put them all -- or had them exercise 7 indicator.
8 with a core temperature, a rectal thermometer. And 8 It would be a -- it would be a mistake to
9 then they measured their temperature. They 9 base your treatment based on the temperature. If
10 measured them with the ear, and then they measured |10 you said, wow. They're hypothermic and they're
11 with a rectal temperature. 11 altered and they're not acting appropriately, to
12 And their temperatures went up together 12 think this isn't heat illness. You have to look at
13 pretty well. So the eartemperature and their core 13 the history. Were they exposed to heat? Was that
14 temperature went up well together. But as they 14 an obvious diaghosis?
15 started cooling down, the tympanic membrane or the |15 Q. Is dehydration a necessary component of
16 ear temperature dropped, but the core temperature, 16 nonexertional heat stroke?
17 the rectal temperature, stayed high for a lot 17 A. It's not necessary. It can happen, and
18 longer. So it doesn't correlate well in this 18 in dehydration, it makes sense. If you're hot,
19 setting. 19 what do you do? You sweat. You're going to get
20 It can do well for kids. Pediatrics it 20 dehydrated. What I -- one of the common things we
21 works well. That's why you see it a lot in 21 see is we see patients go into the river. We have
22 pediatric departments. But in the setting of heat 22 the Colorado River just -- just north of Yuma where
23 stroke, it just doesn't work very well. 23 people recreate.
24 Q. And there has been some testimony 24 And I've had a couple of patients,
25 previously about a temperature taken undemeath 25 actually repeat patients, that — I had this one
86 88
1 somebody's arm. 1 lady that came in. She came in and she got sick.
2 A. Yeah. 2 It was 110. She was having nausea, vomiting,
3 Q. And is that something that you woulid 3 muscle cramps, not feeling well. She said, well, I
4 consider reliable in the heat-related illness 4 drank the whole time.
5 setting? 5 But unfortunately when it's 110, you can
6 A. Unfortunately no. It's -- the problem is 6 be hydrated, but that water that you're drinking is
7 is the physiology of it. When you startto cool or 7 110. So unfortunately they're not mutually
8 heat your veins and arteries, then yourskin can 8 exclusive. You can be hydrated and still have heat
9 dilate or they can contract. And depending on 9 illness.
10 where you are in that, the temperature can be off. 10 The flip side of that is if you are
1 So you really want to know the core 11 dehydrated, it can make heat illness worse. It can
12 temperature. And that's what's affecting people. 12 make you more susceptible to it. The reason being
13 Their skin is not affecting them. It's what's -- 13 is what you're body does to help cool is it dilates
14 what's inside. It's their heart. It's their 14 all those arteries and veins in your skin so you
15 brain. You want to know what's happening to that, 15 can radiate some of that heat off. Okay?
16 not their finger. So — 16 But you need to pump a lot more fluid,
17 Q. Doctor, would you consider a temperature 17 and you need more volume, and your heart's got to
18 taken 45 minutes or more after the removal from the 18 work harder. But if you're -- if you're heart
19 heat source to be something that would be reliable 19 isn't the best, and now you've got to pump a lot
20 in trying to assess heat-related illness? 20 harder, especially in elderly patients, that can be
21 A. That's a good question. And this is what 21 very bad for your heart. And that's why some
22 we commonly see is I don't really rely on 22 people, when they're dehydrated, they get worse.
23 temperatures because our EMS is so good at cooling 23 Q. You mentioned a hypothetical a couple of
24 people down. Nine times out of 10, they're cool -- 24 minutes ago about a person in an apartment, and the
25 actually, they're hypothermic, meaning they've 25 power goes off, and it's 110 out
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What sort of tempegre can cause heat
stroke to come into play for an otherwise healthy
person who is exposed to that temperature in a
nonexertional setting?

A. Well, if it's above 98.6, you're going to

get hot. And that's the -- that's the -- that's
the temperature that we are at when you start
getting 100, 103, 104. I don't know if you've ever
been in a hot tub. But when we set our hot tub at
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A. Qntially, the same as for exertional
and nonexertional. All the signs of heat
exhaustion, which are a concern. You kind of seem
like you've got the flew. You've got -- you can
have muscle cramps. You just don't feel right.
Nausea, vomiting, diarrhea. Those sort of symptoms
can up come.

But then when you flip over to the key
symptoms in -- in heat stroke -- I'm -- I'm just

10 104, I'm cooking, so I can't really stay in that 10 talking on physical exam. This is the way that
11 for much longer. 11 you're just looking at this having heat stroke.
12 Q. Can humidity play a role in heat stroke? 12 They're going to have mental status changes. And
13 A. Absolutely. We talked a little bit about 13 that's the big difference.
14 this, the -- the four ways that you can cool. If 14 Now, when we do tests, there are things
15 you're -- if you're in a hot environment, one is 15 that can be -- that we can find in heat stroke that
16 you can get conductive heat loss. You can put cool 16 you don't find in heat exhaustion. And those tests
17 things on you. If -- if you don't have anything 17 can show us problems with their kidneys, problems
18 cool on you, you're going to gain heat if it's hot 18 with their liver, problems with their heart.
19 outside. 19 They're called "end organs." You're end organs are
20 You can have radiative heat loss. And 20 your main organs: -- your heart, your kidneys,
21 that's where if it's cooler outside than your body, 21 vyour brain.
22 you can radiate heat off. But, again, if it's 22 Your brain is something that you can see.
23 hotter than your body, you can't do that. 23 All of us can see how someone's brain is working
24 You can have convection. And that's 24 just by looking at them. You don't need a blood
25 another thing. I know you've heard of convection 25 test to say, hey, their end organ, their brain, is
. 90 92

1 ovens. They're always circulating heat around. 1 being affected. They're acting not right.

2 They kind of circulate heat around the food. And 2 Whereas, the kidney tests, the liver

3 that's -- that's a way -- if it's hotter outside 3 tests, I can't tell just by looking at you. But

4 than you are, you are not going to be able to 4 you can do it by blood work.

5 radiate heat. 5 That's the thing that I try to teach our

6 The thing that we use in Yuma is 6 first responders is that the brain is the end organ

7 evaporative heat loss. And that's because we have 7 you can see. And when that's affected, you got

8 low humidity. If it is very, very hot, like on the 8 problems. You need to look out for that.

9 East Coast when these people in Chicago and 9 Q. How can heat affect the brain and the
10 New York have these heat waves, it's normally 10 other organs in the body?
11 99 degrees and 99 percent humidity. They lose that |11 A. That's a good question. There's a lot of
12 ability to cool too because you have to sweat. 12 theories on that. The main area is that you get
13 And when you sweat, you have to have 13 swelling, and then the cells start to die. You can
14 evaporation of the sweat. It won't evaporate if 14 leak fluid out into your brain. You can leak fluid
15 it's 99 percent humidity. So that ability to cool 15 into your lungs. Your kidneys shut down.
16 is lost too. So, basically, if it's hot and humid, 16 One of the theories is that people can go
17 you're out of luck. 17 into something called "DIC." What -- what that is
18 Q. Can exposure, then, to extreme heat and 18 is it's disseminated intravascular coagulation.
19 extreme humidity speed up the process or the rate 19 And what that is is from the heat -- your arteries
20 that a person would begin to suffer from a 20 have linings. They're just tubes. They're like

. 21 heat-related illness? 21 hoses. But the heat starts to melt the lining of

22 A. Yes. You just have no way to cool. 22 that hose.
23 Q. And can you tell us, then, what the signs 23 And so your body says, we've got holes.
24 and symptoms you would see in a patient who was 24 TI've got to plug -- we've got to plug those holes.
25 suffering from nonexertional heat stroke. 25 And so your body -- your body starts clotting and
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plugging up all those holes.he arteries.

Unfortunately your whole body doesn’t
have enough clotting factors and platelets to plug
every hole. And then it uses it all up, and then
you start to bleed from everywhere.

So that's one of the late findings in --
in heat stroke from the heat. And it hurts that
lining of the hose, or your tubes, your arteries
and veins, and then they start to leak.
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A. ty quickly.

Q. And how quickly can they -- do they ever
flush out of your body? If you're exposed and you
begin to suffer some effects from heat stroke and
you're removed from the source of the heat, can
those markers eventually move out or clear out of
your body?

A. That's the goal. Absolutely. They can
clear out. And it's normally with hydration.

10 Q. We've -- and you've mentioned some of the 10 Basically, treat the problem. In any -- any kidney
11 other organs in the body that there are some tests 11 disease, when you correct the problem, generally
12 that can determine if those organs have been 12 people do -- do well. Unless they've been severely
13 injured. Can you tell us what -- what those organs 13 hurt, it's been irreversible. That does happen.
14 are and the sort of tests that could ook for 14 Q. And those markers. Is there an accepted
15 injury to those organs. 15 time that they would begin to start clearing out or
16 A. One of the things are kidneys. There is 16 completely clear out of a body? Are we talking
17 something called your "BUN" and "creatinine." They |17 minutes? hours? days?
18 are markers to see if there's been any damage to 18 A. In aday or two with -- with the right
19 vyour kidneys. If your BUN and creatinine are high, 19 treatment. I mean, if you -- if somebody has an
20 it means your kidneys have taken a hit. 20 elevated creatinine because of dehydration, because
21 There are markers for your heart. 21 of heat illness, with aggressive fluids -- you give
22 They're called "cardiac enzymes.” They're -- one 22 them lots of I.V. fluids. If they're able to
23 of them is called "troponin." You don't have a 23 drink, you have them drink fluids. You can
24 troponin that's elevated in your blood in general 24 normally get them better in -- in a day or two.
25 unless you've done some damage to your heart. If 25 Q. And if a person suffering from heat
® - %
1 you've had a heart attack, your troponin is going 1 stroke doesn't receive treatment after exposure for
2 to be high. People that have had damage to heart 2 some period of time to extreme heat, how quickly
3 muscle, that's what a heart attack does. But also 3 can they actually die?
4 heat iliness can damage your heart, and it can make 4 A. One more time for your question.
5 it go high. 5 Q. If a person doesn't receive treatment,
6 Q. Are those, then, elevated enzyme levels 6 how quickly can a person die from heat stroke?
7 for BUN, creatinine, troponin -- are those specific 7 A. Well, it's kind of what we talked about
8 findings for a heat stroke? 8 earlier. Once you start down that path, you start
9 A. They can be for other things as well. 9 between heat exhaustion. You start having muscle
10 Q. What sort of other conditions could cause 10 cramps. You start having nausea, vomiting. And
11 elevated BUN or creatinine markers? 11 then you click that line where you start having
12 A. Oh, the list is long. Dehydration is a 12 mental status changes. You're going down that path
13 common one. People that are dehydrated, the same |13 of heat stroke. And you will go to death quickly,
14 thing happens there. Their kidneys don't get 14 in an hour.
15 enough blood flow, and they start to get hurt. 15 I mean, it -- it depends on how -- how
16 There's medications that can hurt your kidneys. 16 hot it is and their ability to cool, and if they
17 There's things called "autoimmune 17 have preexisting conditions. If they're
18 diseases" where your -- your -- I don't know if 18 dehydrated, if they have heart disease, if they
19 you've ever heard of lupus or these diseases where 19 have other things, then they can die quicker.
20 your immune system attacks itself. It can attack 20 So it depends how hot it is. Ifit's
21 your kidneys. Diabetes can cause kidney disease. 21 just 100 degrees, you can last a lot longer than if
22 The list is extensive. 22 it's 120 degrees. It just depends on how hot it
23 Q. And how quickly can those enzyme levels 23 is.
24 or those markers in the blood elevate after a 24 Q. And, Doctor, have you seen patients in
25 person is exposed to extreme heat? 25 Yuma who have been, say, trapped in a hot car in

Page 93 to 96 of 356

24 of 89 sheets






